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5000 West National Avenue, Milwaukee,
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin

Wood National Cemetery is located adjacent to the grounds of the
Clement J. Zablocki VA Medical Center. Its geographic coordinates
are latitude 43.02948, longitude -87.98189 (Google Earth, Simple
Cylindrical Projection, WGS84). These coordinates represent the
location of the Soldiers and Sailors Monument.

National Cemetery Administration
U.S. Department of the Veterans Affairs

Cemetery

Wood National Cemetery is located on the grounds of the Clement J.
Zablocki Veterans Administration Medical Center, originally the
Northwestern Branch of the National Home for Disabled Volunteer
Soldiers (NHDVS). The cemetery was created in 1871 and has been
expanded numerous times. It now covers 51.1 acres and contains
nearly 38,000 interments in more than 33,000 grave sites. The remains
of soldiers, sailors, marines, and airmen from all American wars
except the Revolutionary War are buried there along with hundreds
of spouses and dependents and numerous civilian employees of the
home and hospital. About 36.5 acres of the cemetery (Sections 3-7, 8-
48, and A-D) lie within and contribute to the Northwestern Branch
NHDVS National Historic Landmark District, designated in 2011.

Michael R. Harrison, 2013

Wood National Cemetery was documented by the Historic American
Landscapes Survey (HALS), one of the Heritage Documentation
Programs of the National Park Service. The principals involved were
Richard O’Connor, Chief of Heritage Documentation Programs, and
Paul D. Dolinsky, Chief of HALS. The project was sponsored by the
U. S. Department of Veterans Affairs, Douglas D. Pulak, Deputy
Federal Preservation Officer. The documentation was produced
during the summer of 2013 by project supervisor Christopher M.
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Stevens, Landscape Architect; Jason W. McNatt, HALS Architect;
Susan Costa Paschke, Landscape Architectural Intern (University of
Washington); Nathan A. Burgess, Landscape Architectural Intern
(University of Virginia); James Stein, GIS Specialist; and Michael R.
Harrison, Historian. Senior Historian Sara Amy Leach and Historians
Jennifer M. Perunko and Alec Bennett of the National Cemetery
Administration provided research and editorial support. The project
wishes to thank Alphaeus Richburg, Wood National Cemetery
Director, and Jill Zahn, Clement J. Zablocki VA Medical Center
Librarian, for their generous assistance.
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PART I. HISTORICAL INFORMATION

A. Physical History
1. Date of establishment: 1871

2. Landscape designer: The cemetery was laid out by John Woolley, deputy governor (i.e.,
officer in charge) of the Soldiers” Asylum from September 14, 1870, to December 31, 1872.

John Woolley (1824-73) was from Indianapolis and may have been the eponymous banker
who ran John Woolley & Company, the firm later known as the Bank of the Capital. He
enlisted in the Second Indiana Calvary in October 1861 and, by the end of the Civil War,
was provost marshal of the Middle Department, 8th Army Corps, under the command of
Gen. Lew Wallace, and held the ranks of brevet brigadier general of the U.S. Volunteers and
lieutenant colonel in the 5th Indiana Cavalry. Woolley served as an adjutant before
becoming provost marshal, and these roles no doubt qualified him for his appointment as
deputy governor of the Northwestern Branch in 1870.1 Woolley is not known to have had
any experience or training in landscape gardening. He died suddenly on April 4, 1873, and
was buried in the Soldiers” Home cemetery (Section 5.1, grave 72).2

3. Builder: Unknown

4. Original and subsequent owners and occupants: The cemetery has been federal
property since its creation, and all the land it now covers was originally part of the extensive
grounds of the Northwestern Branch of the National Asylum (after 1873, Home) for
Disabled Volunteer Soldiers (NHDVS), which opened in 1867. The NHDVS, the Bureau of
Pensions, and the U.S. Veterans Bureau were consolidated to form the Veterans
Administration (VA) in 1930, at which time the cemetery became part of the Veterans
Administration Home and Hospital, Milwaukee. The post office for the home and hospital
was renamed Wood in 1937 to honor Gen. George H. Wood (who for many years had been

1 Although the title suggests otherwise, the deputy governor was the officer appointed to lead each
branch of the National Asylum. The title was changed to commandant during the tenure of Woolley’s
successor.

2 General Woolley’s connection to John Woolley & Co. has not been positively confirmed. Report of
the Adjutant General of the State of Indiana, vol. 2: 1861-1865 (Indianapolis: W. R. Holloway, 1865), 26;
Official Army Register of the Volunteer Force of the United States Army for the years 1861, '62, '63, 64, '65,
Part 6: Indiana —Illinois (Washington, D.C.: G.P.O., [18657?]), 9; George B. Davis, Leslie ]. Perry, and
Joseph W. Kirkley, The War of the Rebellion: A Compilation of the Official Records of the Union and
Confederate Armies, series 1, vol. 46, part 2: Correspondence, etc. (Washington, D.C.: G.P.O., 1895), 51-
52; “ A charming drive,” Milwaukee Sentinel, May 25, 1871, 4; “ A happy thought,” Milwaukee Sentinel,
July 20, 1871, 4; “Gen. Woolley,” Milwaukee Daily Sentinel, Apr. 5, 1873, 8; “Funeral of General
Woolley,” Milwaukee Daily Sentinel, Apr. 9, 1873, 8.
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president of the Board of Managers of the NHDVS), and the cemetery became known as
Wood Veterans Cemetery as a result. After the national cemeteries and soldiers’ lots
operated by the U.S. Army Memorial Affairs Agency were transferred to the VA in 1973, the
VA’s twenty-one veterans’ cemeteries, including Wood, were redesignated as national
cemeteries. The cemetery is now administered by the National Cemetery Administration
within the Department of Veterans Affairs.3

5. Periods of development

a. Original plans and construction: The Northwestern Branch of the National Asylum
(later Home) for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers was established on a 364.6-acre site in
Waukesha Township, Wisconsin, in 1867. The land was purchased for $75,700 in April
1867 from John L. Mitchell, John H. Tweedy, Henry Williams, and Mrs. Ann Fennell
Hathaway. The cemetery was established on land entirely within the parcel purchased
from Ann Hathaway, executrix of the estate of her late husband Joshua Hathaway. Over
time, as the cemetery was expanded, it came to cover a portion of the parcel acquired
from John Mitchell as well as part of another 16.82-acre parcel purchased in 1884 from
the Chicago, Milwaukee, and St. Paul Railway Company .4

The cemetery was initially developed in May and June 1871 in the far northwestern
corner of the Soldiers” Asylum grounds. The chosen site was hilly and wooded and lay
above a shallow ravine cut through by a spring-fed creek. John Woolley laid out the
cemetery on an irregular plan with curving paths that divided the burial ground into
more than twenty small blocks, the smallest of which were only large enough to provide
about a dozen grave sites each. Woolley intended that burials would be grouped by
state of origin, but burial records reveal this system was abandoned after just a few
years.

b. Changes and additions: A lake—called Spring Lake or Cemetery Lake, and later
renamed Lake Huston —was created along the course of the spring-fed creek southeast
and east of the cemetery in the mid 1870s. South of the lake, a roughly 5-acre wooded
area was developed into parkland around the same time. The lake and park enhanced
the picturesque quality of the cemetery and knit the burial ground into a larger
landscape of recreational lands which officials developed at the home for the use of the

3 Jessica Berglin and Charlene Roise, “National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers,
Northwestern Branch,” HALS No. WI-13, Historic American Landscapes Survey, National Park
Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, 2012, 40. Wood VA Medical Center was renamed Clement J.
Zablocki VA Medical Center in 1985, and the VA was elevated to the cabinet-level Department of
Veterans Affairs in 1989.

4 “The site for the National Military Asylum,” Milwaukee Sentinel, Mar. 2, 1867, 1; “The National
Military Asylum,” Milwaukee Sentinel, Apr. 30, 1867, 1; William Y. Hartman, History of Veterans
Administration Center, Wood, Wisconsin (Privately printed, [19667?]), 9-11.
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residents and of the general public. Although diminished in size due to the development
of new burial sections over time, the park continues to contribute to the cemetery’s
bucolic character today.

The Soldiers” Home began using a plot in neighboring Calvary Cemetery to the north for
the burial of Catholic veterans in 1875. (This non-federally-owned plot is now Section 1;
see Figures 2, 3, and 4.) In 1887, the cemetery was expanded for the first time within the
Soldiers” Home campus proper with the first interments in what is now Section 4.
Further expansion followed in the 1890s as new burial sections were laid out on the
undeveloped land south of the creek ravine. The irregular plan from 1871 was not
continued in the new portions of the cemetery; instead, Soldiers” Home officials adopted
a more regular plan, with rectangular sections laid out on either side of an axial north-
south-running road (now Juneau Avenue). Paths between the new sections crossed the
axial road at right angles, creating a formal grid that was reinforced by the straight lines
of headstones that eventually came to occupy the land. As additional sections were
needed, additional rectangles were added to plan. A second road, American War
Mothers Avenue, was opened running east-west after World War L.

Photographs and postcard views indicate the cemetery was simply landscaped, with
trees lining the roads and paths, and grass covering the graves. The oldest burial
sections remained more wooded than the newer sections well into the 1960s.

An octagonal reception house was built in the cemetery in 1900. The tall and prominent
Civil War Soldiers and Sailors Memorial Monument was dedicated nearby in 1903.

The cemetery has been altered three times by the construction of transportation
infrastructure. In 1898, an elevated streetcar track with a passenger station opened for
service on the boundary line dividing the Soldiers’ Home Cemetery from Calvary
Cemetery. This right of way was converted to a surface rapid transit line in 1924, and all
interments in Section 2 were moved into new graves in Sections 5 and 6 to make room
for the new tracks. Finally, the construction of the East-West Expressway (now Interstate
94) in the 1950s led to the draining and filling-in of the lake and the cutting through and
grading of a roadbed in the low land between the original cemetery and the extensions.
A bridge was constructed over the expressway to link the now discontiguous northern
and southern portions of the cemetery.

Demand for additional burial sites led to the conversion of the footpaths throughout the
cemetery into graves between 1939 and 1950. This work erased the borders between the
irregularly shaped early sections of the cemetery (Sections 3-7), obscuring the logic of
the original plan.
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In 1974, the land containing the cemetery plus a ball field south of it were transferred
from the VA’s Department of Medicine and Surgery to the National Cemetery System.
By 1986, the ball field had been developed into burial sections and the cemetery filled
the entire eastern edge of the historic Soldiers’ Home property from Calvary Cemetery
to the campus-bisecting right of way of the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific
Railroad (since 2000 the Hank Aaron State Trail). A transfer from the hospital to the
cemetery of 12 additional acres south of the right of way in 1986 allowed the
development of a final group of burial sections, which were laid out as a great lawn
around a circular roadway. The cemetery was closed to all new first interments in 1999.

B. Historical Context

The Wisconsin Soldiers Home Society, chartered by the state in 1865, was an outgrowth of
women'’s charitable work on behalf of soldiers in Milwaukee during the Civil War. The
society organized a state fair in the summer of 1865 and raised about $100,000 to purchase a
site and built a permanent soldiers” home in Milwaukee, intended to be the successor of a
soldiers” home operating in rented quarters in the city since April 1864. The same year,
Congress established the National Asylum for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers (renamed the
National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers in 1873) to provide care to indigent
veterans. In 1866, George H. Walker, a former mayor of Milwaukee, was selected to sit on
the asylum’s Board of Managers. Through his influence, the lady managers of the Wisconsin
Soldiers” Home donated their land and endowment to the federal government in exchange
for the selection of Milwaukee as the site for the Northwestern Branch of the National
Asylum. The Wisconsin Soldiers Home Society’s land was eventually sold, but its cash
allowed the National Asylum to purchase 364.6 acres in Wauwatosa Township in 1867. The
Northwestern Branch was built on this land starting that same year.5

The site plan for the Northwestern Branch was designed by U.S. Army chaplain Rev.
Thomas Budd Van Horne, who also planned the Central Branch in Dayton, Ohio. Although
Van Horne had previously laid out the Chattanooga, Tennessee, and Marietta, Georgia,
national cemeteries, there is no evidence he included a cemetery in his plans for the
Northwestern Branch. The frequent assertion that he designed the 1871 cemetery at the
Milwaukee Soldiers” Home is not supported by evidence.

5 Robert J. Neugent, “The National Soldiers’ Home,” Historical Messenger of the Milwaukee County
Historical Society (autumn 1975): 88-96; Lisa P. Davidson, “National Home for Disabled Volunteer
Soldiers, Northwestern Branch, Main Building,” HABS No. WI-360-A, Historic American Buildings
Survey, National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, 2008, 7-8.

¢ Davidson, “National Home,” 10. Assertions that Van Horne designed the cemetery appear in, for
example, Berglin and Roise, “National Home,” 12 and 19, and Suzanne Julin, “Northwestern Branch,
National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers,” Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. National Historic
Landmark Registration Form, National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, 2010, 27 and 35.
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Soldiers who died at the general hospital in Milwaukee during the Civil War, and whose
remains were not claimed by relatives or friends, were buried in a potter’s field in Forest
Home Cemetery, a burial ground owned by St. Paul’s Episcopal Church in Milwaukee
County. In 1868, the federal government purchased four lots in Section 24 of this cemetery
for $525 and paid the cemetery association $63 to move the remains of twenty-one known
soldiers from the potter’s field into the government’s lots. Period sources imply that
unknown soldiers were left in the potter’s field.” Soldiers who died at the Wisconsin
Soldiers” Home whose remains were not returned to relatives were buried in a plot
comprising four lots owned by the home in Section 31 of the same cemetery. Each soldier
buried by the lady managers of the home received a headstone, and the home’s plot was
marked by a monument (no longer extant) donated by the stone cutting firm of Moffat &
Eccles.® The lady managers buried those soldiers who were Catholic in Calvary Cemetery, in
a plot in block 5 donated to the Wisconsin Soldiers” Home by the Archdiocese of
Milwaukee. Calvary Cemetery was located in Wauwatosa Township, immediately adjacent
to the land purchased for the Northwestern Branch of the Soldiers” Asylum in 1867.

Veterans who died at the Northwestern Branch after it began admitting residents in May
1867 were initially buried in the plot in Section 31 at Forest Home Cemetery or in the plot in
block 5 of Calvary Cemetery. In 1870 and 1871, some asylum burials were also made in a
plot in Section A of Forest Home Cemetery.?

In spring 1871, Bvt. Brig. Gen. John Woolley, deputy governor of the asylum, had a winding
road cut though the northern portion of the grounds to connect the central part of the
campus with the Spring Street Road (now Bluemound Road). At the same time, he had a
cemetery laid out in the woods at the asylum’s northwestern corner. He located the
cemetery on a rise adjacent to a small spring-fed creek. Period newspaper reports give the
size of the cemetery site as 10-12 acres, but modern measurements put it at 4-6 acres.
Woolley’s design called for different portions of the cemetery to be devoted “to each state
having or likely to have representatives in the institution.” White painted headboards

7 Oscar A. Mack, special report to Secretary of War W. W. Belknap relative to Forest Home
Cemetery, Milwaukee, Oct. 17, 1872, National Archives and Records Administration, Washington,
D.C., Records of the Office of the Quartermaster General, General Correspondence and Reports
Relating to National and Post Cemeteries (Record Group 92, Entry 576), box 47, docket for
“Milwaukee.”

8 Second Annual Report of the Wisconsin Soldiers” Home (Milwaukee: Daily Wisconsin Printing House,
1866); “The Soldiers’ Home,” Milwaukee Sentinel, Feb. 5, 1866, 1.

9 Burial ledgers for the Northwestern Branch are deposited in the Records of the Veterans
Administration (Record Group 15), National Archives and Records Administration, Washington,
D.C. See also “List of the dead soldiers in Forest Home,” Milwaukee Sentinel, May 23, 1874, 8; Letter of
the Secretary of War communicating...the report of the inspector of national cemeteries of the United States for
1869. Senate Ex. Doc. 62, 41st Cong., 2d sess., Mar. 15, 1870, 78-79.
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originally marked each state’s plot. This system was followed for a few years, but burial
records indicate that the effort to group burials by state had been abandoned by 1876.10

Improvement of the cemetery had not yet begun when veteran John K. Afton became the
first person buried there within a few days of his death on May 22, 1871.11 Veteran Edward
Schluesselberg was buried nearby a few days later. On May 26, a resident at the asylum
wrote,

A company of men are now engaged in making an avenue, oval shaped, to
the new burial ground. Already two inmates are buried there and it is
rumored that some buried elsewhere who died here, are to be disinterred and
their remains deposited in this cemetery. [This was not done.] The bridge
across the ravine nearest the burying ground, on the new road from it to the
Asylum, is to be taken up and raised about six feet as the descent to the same
is rather steeper than convenience seems to require.!2

Memorial Day was observed in the cemetery before the improvement work was completed.
On Tuesday morning May 30, about 170 members of the asylum led by the asylum band
marched to Calvary Cemetery, where members of Grand Army of the Republic Veteran Post
No. 8 strewed flowers on the soldiers’ graves and Rev. William Schmidt of St. Gall’s Church
delivered an address. The procession then moved to the Soldiers” Asylum cemetery, where
local businessman James C. Pollard delivered a second address. In the afternoon, members
took part in Milwaukee’s main Memorial Day exercises in the center city.13

The asylum cemetery was dedicated Monday, June 12, 1871. The Milwaukee Sentinel
reported,

At precisely 3 o’clock the scarred and warworn veterans of the Home, to the
number of about four hundred, fell into line, and headed by the Asylum
Band, and marshalled by the kind and gentlemanly Deputy Governor,
General Woolley, took up their march for the cemetery, located in a beautiful
grove on the northwest corner of the grounds. The officers of the institution,
several members of the Board of Managers, a number of the city clergy and

10 A charming drive,” Milwaukee Sentinel, May 25, 1871, 4; quote from “A happy thought,”
Milwaukee Sentinel, Aug. 20, 1871; “ At the National Home...,” Milwaukee Sentinel, June 1, 1874, 4.

1 “A charming drive,” Milwaukee Sentinel, May 25, 1871, 4. Afton was interred in Sec. 2, gr. 57. His
remains were disinterred and reburied in their current location, Sec. 5.11, gr. 163B, about 1924.

12 “The National Military Asylum,” Milwaukee Sentinel, May 30, 1871, 2.

13 “Decoration Day,” Milwaukee Sentinel, May 27, 1871; “Decoration Day,” Milwaukee Sentinel, May
31, 1871, 1; “Honors to the Union dead; decoration of soldiers” graves in memoriam,” Milwaukee
Weekly Sentinel, June 6, 1871.
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other invited guests, with citizens and strangers, also joined in the
procession.

The ceremonies, punctuated by music from the band, included three extended speeches by
Rev. John Allison of Milwaukee; Samuel Fallows, state superintendent of public instruction;
and Maj. Gen. Thomas O. Osborn of Chicago, a member of the Board of Managers.!4

A reporter described the cemetery site in 1874 as “a piece of wild and extremely beautiful
light woodland, pierced with ravines and approached by a serpentine road made by the
authorities of the home. . . . The dead sleep under the trees and the soft air murmurs a
requiem over them.”15

The Soldiers” Asylum was renamed the Soldiers” Home in 1873, and the first expansion of
the cemetery was made in late 1875, when the Archdiocese of Milwaukee donated to the
home a plot within Calvary Cemetery for Catholic burials.’e This 7/10ths-acre plot, which is
now numbered as Wood National Cemetery’s Section 1, was located along the southern
boundary of Calvary Cemetery, immediately adjacent to the home cemetery. (See Figure 2.)
Martin Hays, who died October 2, 1875, was the section’s first interment. Increasing
numbers of Catholic veterans were buried in this section over the next twenty years,
although come Catholics continued to be buried in other sections of the home cemetery.
Interments ceased in this section in 1897, when a new section developed on the Soldiers’
Home property (now Section 15) was set aside for Roman Catholic burials.1”

14 “Brevities,” Milwaukee Sentinel, June 10, 1871, 4; “Dedication ceremonies,” Milwaukee Sentinel,
June 13, 1871, 4. Samuel Fallows later served as chaplain at the dedication of the Lincoln Memorial in
Washington, D.C., in 1922.

15 “ At the National Home...,” Milwaukee Sentinel, June 1, 1874, 4

16 In general, Protestant and Catholic residents of the Soldiers” Home were buried side by side in
the home cemetery from its opening in May 1871 until autumn 1875, although a few burials were
made in the remaining grave sites in the old Wisconsin Soldiers” Home lot in block 5 of Calvary
Cemetery in 1874-75 and 1877-78. The soldiers’ graves in Calvary Cemetery block 5, although still
extant, are not considered part of Wood National Cemetery and are not administered by the VA.
Maintenance such as grass cutting for Section 1, also within Calvary Cemetery and not federally
owned, is currently being performed by the Wood National Cemetery maintenance staff. Block 5 and
Section 1 are not part of the Northwestern Branch NHDVS NHL District.

17 Dean W. Holt, American Military Cemeteries. 2nd ed. (Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., Inc., 2010),
299; Randal S. Chasco, Self-Guided Tour of Historic Calvary Cemetery (Milwaukee: Archdiocese of
Milwaukee, n.d.), n.p. Information on first interments and expansion of the cemetery are
reconstructed from the cemetery burial ledgers in the National Archives. Additional information
culled from the Historical Registers of the National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, 1866-1938
(National Archives Microfilm publication M1749; also available online through Family Search,
https:/ /familysearch.org /search/collection/1916230) and a plat book of the cemetery preserved in
the Clement ]. Zablocki VA Medical Center Library.
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As the cemetery filled, new sections were developed to expand burial capacity. What is now
Section 4 received its first interments in 1887. In 1890, a new section (modern-day Section
10), was opened south of the creek ravine, and five more sections were opened nearby over
the next decade. The sections south of the ravine followed a new plan that extended the
cemetery in more or less rectangular blocks southward along the western edge of the
Soldiers” Home grounds. (See Figure 2.)

Multiple sections of the cemetery were typically in use for burials simultaneously, but as
sections filled up, new ones were opened. By 1917, the cemetery comprised twenty-two
sections; by 1942, it had thirty. Pressure for space eventually led to the reopening of sections
previously regarded as full, usually by converting pathways into burial sites. Section 13,
first used in 1900, was the first section reopened, in 1927. Sections 3, 9, 10, 11, and 12 were all
reopened in 1939. (A complete list of cemetery sections and their dates of first interment and
reopening appears in Appendix II.)

The preponderance of burials from 1871 into the 1910s were members of the home. Home
staff were also buried there from time to time, as were, very occasionally, non-member
veterans. After World War I, veterans of allied nations could be buried in the cemetery, and
by 1931 there were Polish, Canadian, Italian, French, and Czechoslovakian nationals
interred there. During World War II, a number of German prisoners of war were also buried
in the cemetery.18

In 1930, the Soldiers” Home became part of the new Veterans Administration, and in 1935
the cemetery was opened to non-resident and non-patient veteran burials. By the 1960s,
most interments at the cemetery came from the Milwaukee VA hospital or from the VA
hospital at Downey, Illinois. When Pfc. Duncan F. Krueger, 18, of West Allis, Wisconsin (just
west of the VA hospital) was killed in action in Vietnam in late 1965, the central VA in
Washington, D.C., had to give special permission for him to be buried at Wood. Krueger
was the first Vietnam casualty buried in the cemetery.1?

The VA granted the federal Bureau of Public Roads an easement through the hospital
grounds in 1952 to allow construction of the East-West Expressway, which is now Interstate
94. Congress authorized the VA to transfer the land in this easement, plus additional
acreage, to Milwaukee County in 1954, and this transfer was made in early 1955. The section
of interstate through the cemetery was completed in 1961, permanently dividing the oldest
sections of the cemetery from the later additions. Construction of the interstate required
draining and filling in the cemetery lake and the removal of graves in Section 8, which lay
directly in the right of way. Veteran burials from Section 8 were moved to Section 38 in July

18 “The dead have a bivouac here,” Milwaukee Journal, Oct. 11, 1931.
19 “2 Vietnam dead buried at Wood,” Milwaukee Sentinel, Jan. 13, 1967, 5.
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1959, while civilian and Soldiers’” Home staff graves were moved at the same time to a new
Section 8 adjacent to Section 11.20

The land containing the cemetery was transferred from the VA’s Department of Medicine
and Surgery to the VA’s National Cemetery System in 1974. Included in this transfer was
undeveloped land containing a ball field that lay between the cemetery and the right of way
of the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific Railroad. Plans were made to develop 9 acres
around the ball field into burial Sections A, B, C, and D in 1974. The first interments were
made in Sections A and B in 1976.2! The same year the VA opened a memorial section in the
area surrounding the Soldiers and Sailors Monument. Headstones in this section
memorialize service members whose remains have not been recovered or were otherwise
unavailable for burial.

In 1977, a 6.27-acre parcel bounded by the cemetery on the west, Mitchell Boulevard on the
northeast, and the northern leg of General Wolcott Avenue on the south, was transferred
from the Bureau of Medicine and Surgery to the cemetery to provide a site for a new
administration and service building and to create about 3,500 grave sites.22 This land
contained three historic residential buildings for which demolition permission from the
Wisconsin State Historic Preservation Officer could not be obtained. Because these buildings
interfered with development of the land into grave sites, the entire parcel was transferred
back to the Department of Medicine and Surgery in June 1981.2 In January 1984, about a
third of this parcel was again transferred to the cemetery. This time, the historic residential
buildings were omitted from the transfer, and the cemetery service made plans to demolish
several old garages on the land and develop it as grave sites. Sections 37B, 37C, and 37D
were the result.

Another parcel of 2.5 acres, extending east from the cemetery along the railroad right of
way, was also transferred to the cemetery in January 1984. Plans to develop it for grave sites
were abandoned in late 1984 because of high cost estimates for landscaping and moving

20 Berglin and Roise, “National Home,” 38.

2l Veterans Administration, Site Plan, Develop Nine Acres for Gravesites, Aug. 23, 1974, National
Cemetery Administration, Department of Veterans Affairs, Washington, D.C.

2V.P. Miller to Administrator of Veterans Affairs, Aug. 30, 1977; Donovan E. Hower to Arthur L.
Modin, Apr. 19, 1978; both National Archives and Records Administration, Washington, D.C,,
Records of the Veterans Administration, Department of Memorial Affairs, National Cemetery
Historical File (Record Group 15/ A-1, Entry 25), folder for Wood N/C.

23 Carl T. Noll, memo to Assistant Administrator for Construction, Dec. 18, 1978; W. A Salmond,
memo to Acting Administrator, June 10, 1981; VA Real Estate Tract Register for Wood N/C, all in
Wood N/C deed file, National Cemetery Administration, Department of Veterans Affairs,
Washington, D.C. [hereafter NCA]. The buildings that could not be demolished were buildings 14,
16, and 17. Building 17 was briefly considered for reuse as a cemetery lodge and administration
building.



WOOD NATIONAL CEMETERY
HALS WI-6

(page 12)

utility lines, and because the site faced the front of the recently established VA Regional
Office. As the director of the cemetery service commented, “It would be inappropriate to
exit the VA Regional Office and be confronted by a National Cemetery.” The 2.5-acre tract
was returned to the Department of Medicine and Surgery in July 1986.24

In late 1984, cemetery administrators mooted the idea of obtaining from the hospital a large
triangular parcel located toward the southern end of the VA Medical Center’s western edge.
This parcel, at first believed to cover 16 acres but later resurveyed at 12 acres, would allow
for the development of 4,000-5,000 grave sites and provide a site for a new administration
building. Preliminary building and site plans were drafted in December 1984 that
envisioned several large burial sections accessed by a single road loop entering the parcel
from the south. A building combining administrative offices with equipment and vehicle
storage was designed to sit between the access road and the western edge of the cemetery.2>

The 12-acre parcel was transferred to the National Cemetery Service in July 1986, bringing
the cemetery to a size of about 49.4 acres. This land was soon graded to create the access
road and Sections E though M. The road was named Afton Circle in honor of John Afton,
the first person buried in the cemetery. The first interments in this new area were made in
Section H in April 1987 .26

Further work was done on the design of the administration building in 1987 and 1988 with
the intention of locating it within the 12-acre addition. At the end of 1987, however,
residents of the neighborhood adjoining the cemetery to the west objected to the
construction of a service building close to their houses. In 1988, cemetery and medical center
administrators agreed to study the feasibility of locating the administration building on the
site of the old Soldiers’ Home greenhouse, which was to be demolished. A new design for
the building was made in 1989. This site was within the boundaries of a proposed National
Register of Historic Places historic district covering the oldest portions of the Soldiers’
Home, however, and the Wisconsin SHPO disapproved the plans, finding the building’s
Prairie Style-inspired design incompatible with nearby historic structures.?”

24 Quote from Bob R. Beller, memo to Chief Memorial Affairs Director, Oct. 30, 1984; VA Real Estate
Tract Register, Wood N/C, both in NCA.

25 Bob R. Beller, memo to Chief Memorial Affairs Director, Oct. 30, 1984; Veterans Administration,
Conceptual Development Plan for Wood National Cemetery Expansion, Dec. 4, 1984, National Cemetery
Administration plans files.

26 VA Real Estate Tract Register for Wood N/C, NCA.

27 Design drawings for the administration/ maintenance building, dated Feb. 1, 1988, are held at
headquarters of the National Cemetery Administration. “Wood National Cemetery,
Administration/Service Building and Gravesite Developme